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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 
 

KATHY DIANE LEWIS, ) 
  ) 
 Plaintiff, ) 
  ) 
v.   ) Case No.: ___________________ 
  ) JURY DEMAND 
KNOX COUNTY, TENNESSEE, ) 
  ) 
 Defendant. ) 
	

 
COMPLAINT 

 
	

 COMES Kathy Diane Lewis, Plaintiff (“Plaintiff” or “Lewis”) and sues Knox County, 

Tennessee, Defendant (“Defendant” or “Knox County”), to correct unlawful employment 

practices on the basis of age and disability, including perceived disability and to provide Plaintiff 

appropriate relief, would show unto the Court, as follows: 

1. Plaintiff sues Defendant for age discrimination in violation of the Age Discrimination in 

Employment Act of 1967 (“ADEA”), 29 U.S.C. § 621-634 and the Americans with Disabilities 

Act of 1990, as amended (“ADAAA” or “ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.  

2. This Court has federal question jurisdiction of Plaintiff’s age and disability 

discrimination claims pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

3. Venue lies in this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1402 since the unlawful 

employment practices were committed by Defendant and its agents while in the State of 

Tennessee.  Further, venue is appropriate in United States District Court for the Eastern District 

of Tennessee, Western Division, Knoxville in that the Defendant operates within, and Plaintiff 
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resides within the Eastern District of Tennessee, and the events that give rise to this cause of 

action occurred in this District. 

4. Plaintiff, Kathy Diane Lewis is 63 years of age and is a resident of Knox County, 

Tennessee.  Plaintiff was born May 14, 1959.  At times material to Plaintiff’s Complaint of age 

and disability discrimination, Plaintiff was employed by Knox County, Tennessee in Knox 

County, Tennessee. 

5. Defendant, Knox County maintains its principal office at the City-County Building, 400 

Main Street, Knoxville, Tennessee 37902.  Knox County operates three courts, including Knox 

County Criminal Court, General Sessions Court Criminal Division and Fourth Circuit Court.  

Knox County employed approximately 75 persons for all three courts in April 2020, and has 

maintained the requisite number of employees to be bound by both the ADEA and ADAAA.  

The Defendant’s registered agent for service of process in the State of Tennessee is Glenn 

Jacobs, Mayor, City-County Building, Suite 615, 400 Main Street, Knoxville, Tennessee 37902.  

At all time relevant Defendant Employer has continuously been an employer engaged in an 

industry affecting commerce within the meaning of the ADEA and ADAAA. 

6. Plaintiff was employed with Knox County, in the courts from January 5, 2009 until her 

wrongful discharge effective August 1, 2020.  At the time of the unlawful discharge, Plaintiff 

was age 61.  The Plaintiff performed many positions and duties throughout her employment with 

Defendant in the Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office.  Plaintiff most recently served the Fourth 

Circuit Court Clerk’s office as Deputy Clerk and Order of Protection Assistant.  In these 

positions Plaintiff worked in the Defendant’s office preparing orders of protection and preparing 

files for court hearings.  Prior to Plaintiff’s wrongful termination, Plaintiff trained another 

employee to perform Plaintiff’s prior assigned duties at the front counter, assisting individuals 

and attorneys with court filings, information regarding pending cases, etc. 

Case 3:22-cv-00256-KAC-JEM   Document 1   Filed 07/25/22   Page 2 of 9   PageID #: 2



 

3 

7. Throughout Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant, Plaintiff performed all assigned 

duties satisfactorily without reprimand or written discipline.  

8. Throughout Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant her attendance was excellent. 

9. In March 2020, Mike Hammond (“Hammond”) served as the Knox County Criminal 

Court Clerk, which includes Criminal, General Sessions and Fourth Circuit Courts. 

10. On or about March 31, 2020, Hammond announced to the employees working in the 

Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office that those employees who were sixty (60) years of age and 

older or with medical conditions that were not comfortable working during the COVID-19 

pandemic could take time off or work remotely. (See attached Exhibit 1). 

11. In response to Hammond’s March 31, 2020 announcement regarding employees with 

medical conditions and COVID-19, Plaintiff emailed Hammond advising him of her high-risk 

category medical condition.  Hammond’s response to Plaintiff’s notice to him of her medical 

condition was, “Go Home.”  Pursuant to Hammond’s instruction, Plaintiff took the four (4) week 

leave and Hammond instructed her to return to work at the end of April 2020.   

12. Prior to Defendant’s March 31, 2020 announcement to employees age sixty (60) years 

and older and with a medical condition, Plaintiff had not requested to take leave from work. 

13. Despite being offered a four (4) week paid leave from work, Plaintiff went back to work 

on Tuesday, April 21, 2020.  On Monday, April 27, 2020, Hammond called Plaintiff into the 

conference room and notified Plaintiff that he was going to furlough three (3) employees from 

the Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office beginning May 9, 2020.   Hammond then notified 

Plaintiff that he chose Plaintiff as one of the three (3) employees to furlough.  Hammond told 

Plaintiff that the furlough would begin on May 9, 2020 and that Plaintiff would return to work 

from the furlough on July 6, 2020.  Plaintiff repeatedly asked Hammond (four times) if he would 

be bringing her back to work on July 6, 2020 and Hammond replied, “Yes.”  At that time 
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Plaintiff specifically asked Hammond how he selected the three (3) employees from the Fourth 

Circuit Court Clerk’s office for furlough.  Hammond stated that he tried to choose the employees 

who would financially benefit from furlough the most.  Hammond then assured Plaintiff that she 

would make more money on furlough than Plaintiff would make if she were working in the 

Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office.   

14. On or about June 12, 2020 Plaintiff received a letter from Hammond referenced 

“Extending Furlough,” wherein Hammond stated, “I have decided to extend your furlough 

through July 31st.” (See attached Exhibit 2). 

15. On July 28, 2020 Plaintiff received a telephone call at her home from Hammond.  

During the July 28, 2020 telephone call Hammond informed Plaintiff that he was cutting her 

position and that her employment with Knox County was terminated.  Hammond represented 

that Plaintiff’s position was being cut due to lack of revenue.  Hammond represented that Knox 

County did not have enough money to fund Plaintiff’s position and bring her back to work.  

Hammond also told Plaintiff that he was eliminating her position and it would not be refilled.  

Plaintiff subsequently received a letter from Hammond dated July 28, 2020 notifying her that her 

position had been eliminated and would not be refilled. (See attached Exhibit 3).  Hammond’s 

July 28, 2020 letter confirmed that Plaintiff’s last day of employment with Knox County Fourth 

Circuit Court Clerk’s office was August 1, 2020.  During the telephone call with Hammond on 

July 28, 2020, after being told of her termination, Plaintiff was distraught by the news of her 

termination and began crying.  During the telephone call as Hammond began discussing the 

separation financial package Plaintiff pleaded with him stating, “Please, no!”  Despite Plaintiff’s 

emotional plea, Hammond remained unemotional or sympathetic and was very straight-to-the 

point regarding the termination of Plaintiff’s employment. 
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16. Plaintiff avers that had Plaintiff not been targeted to take the COVID leave in April 2020 

due to her age and serious medical condition or perceived serious medical condition, that she 

would not have been also targeted for the May through July 2020 furlough, extended furlough or 

termination. 

17. Plaintiff was the only Knox County employee working in the Fourth Circuit Court 

Clerk’s office who was terminated effective August 1, 2020.   

18. On July 28, 2020, the date Defendant told Plaintiff that her employment was being 

terminated, Plaintiff was the oldest employee of Knox County working in the Fourth Circuit 

Court Clerk’s office. 

19. During Plaintiff’s employment with the Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office Plaintiff 

assisted in training five (5) or more new hires to work on the front counter.  The majority if not 

all of the employees Hammond hired and that Plaintiff trained for the front counter duty were 

significantly younger than Plaintiff.  During Plaintiff’s employment with Knox County, 

Hammond established a pattern and practice of hiring females significantly younger than 

Plaintiff, and some of whom Hammond had become acquainted with at local bars and 

entertainment establishments.  Despite those significantly younger females having no experience, 

they received promotions and pay raises in short periods of time.  Defendant developed a pattern 

and practice of favoring employees significantly younger than Plaintiff and without serious 

medical conditions for pay increases and promotions. 

20. Despite Hammond’s representations to Plaintiff during the July 28, 2020 telephone call 

and in the July 28, 2020 termination letter (Exhibit 3 hereto), Hammond did not eliminate 

Plaintiff’s position and he did fill Plaintiff’s former position as Order of Protection Assistant, as 

well as other former positions for which Plaintiff was qualified, with individuals significantly 

younger than Plaintiff and with individuals without disabilities or perceived disabilities who did 
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not take the COVID-19 related leave targeted to those employees sixty (60) years of age or older 

with underlying serious medical conditions as became known to Hammond and Knox County. 

21. Prior to filling Plaintiff’s former position in the Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office, 

Defendant did not make the position available to Plaintiff. 

22. At the current time, Plaintiff avers that the Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office, as well as 

each of the courts of Knox County that Hammond is responsible, are at full staff, with the same 

or possibly more employees than at the time of Plaintiff’s termination, which was effective 

August 1, 2020.   

23. Plaintiff was the only employee working in the Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office that 

was furloughed and not allowed to return to work in 2020. 

24. During the July 28, 2020 telephone call with Hammond, after Hammond terminated 

Plaintiff’s employment he stated to Plaintiff “you never know things may change and I may be 

calling you again sometime if you don’t have a job and are available.”   

25. At no time since the July 28, 2020 telephone call has Hammond or any Knox County 

representative contacted Plaintiff to discuss or offer Plaintiff her prior job back or any other job 

with Knox County for which Plaintiff is qualified. 

26. In January 2021 a significantly younger person with no disability or perceived disability, 

employed in the Fourth Circuit Court Clerk’s office resigned from a position for which Plaintiff 

was qualified.  Plaintiff avers that Hammond told said employee “anytime” the employee wanted 

to come back to work she could.  Defendant did not afford Plaintiff the option to go back to work 

with Defendant in any capacity. 

27. From August 1, 2020 to the present date, Hammond has hired numerous new employees, 

significantly younger than Plaintiff and who do not have disabilities or perceived disabilities, to 
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work in the Knox County Criminal Court, General Sessions Court Criminal Division and Fourth 

Circuit Court. 

28. Defendant’s stated reason for termination of Plaintiff’s employment effective August 1, 

2020 was, “Reduction in force due to COVID-19.” (See attached Exhibit 4).  Defendant’s stated 

reason for Plaintiff’s termination was a pretext for age and disability discrimination under the 

ADEA and ADAAA. 

29. At the time Knox County wrongfully terminated Plaintiff’s employment, Plaintiff was 

earning $39,500 per year plus paid vacation, paid holidays and other benefits. 

30. During Plaintiff’s employment and at all times material to Defendant’s decision to 

terminate Plaintiff’s employment, Hammond and Defendant had knowledge of Plaintiff’s 

“disability” within the meaning of the ADAAA or in the alternative “perceived Plaintiff as 

having a disability” within the meaning of the ADAAA. 

31. Defendant, through its management treated Plaintiff less favorably than employees and 

applicants significantly younger than Plaintiff and than similarly situated employees without 

disabilities or in the alternative other employees that Defendant did not perceive to be disabled. 

32. Plaintiff was qualified for the position Plaintiff held with Defendant, with or without 

reasonable accommodation at all times material hereto.  Defendant terminated the employment 

of Plaintiff because of Plaintiff’s disability or in the alternative because Defendant perceived 

Plaintiff to be a disabled person, in violation of the ADAAA. 

33. As the averments above show and the discovery process will further demonstrate the 

majority, if not all of the Knox County Fourth Circuit and Criminal Court employees, including 

Plaintiff, which Defendant targeted for COVID leave and subsequent furlough, were then 

terminated effective August, 2020.  Defendant illegally singled out Plaintiff and these other 
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Knox County Fourth Circuit and Criminal Court employees because of their ages (“60 or older”) 

and medical conditions, which were either serious medical conditions or perceived as disabilities.    

34. Plaintiff’s age was the basis of Defendant’s unlawful discharge decision in violation of 

the ADEA. 

35. Not only was Plaintiff the victim of disparate treatment by Defendant, but Defendant’s 

termination of Plaintiff’s employment effective August 1, 2020 and Defendant’s hiring practices 

prior to and after Plaintiff’s termination of employment demonstrates that Defendant violated the 

ADEA by engaging in a program that yielded a disparate impact on the older employees of 

Defendant. 

36. The Defendant’s age and disability discrimination asserted in this Complaint was 

deliberate, malicious, willful and in reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s federally protected rights to 

equal employment opportunities under the ADEA and ADAAA.  Plaintiff is entitled to all 

damages available under the ADEA and ADAAA, including, but not limited to liquidated 

damages in double the amount of lost wages and benefits from the Defendant. 

37. Plaintiff has lost wages, health insurance benefits, retirement benefits and other benefits 

as a result of Defendant’s discrimination set forth in the Complaint.  Plaintiff has suffered mental 

anguish and anxiety as a result of Defendant’s unlawful termination of Plaintiff’s employment.  

Plaintiff’s earnings capacity has been impaired and Plaintiff’s enjoyment of life has been 

diminished as a direct result of Defendant’s decision to wrongfully terminate Plaintiff’s 

employment. 

38. Plaintiff filed a Charge of Discrimination with the EEOC asserting age and disability 

discrimination, has received a Right to Sue letter and has exhausted the requisite administrative 

remedies prior to filing this Complaint.  Plaintiff’s Right to Sue letter from the EEOC is attached 

hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 5. 
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39. Plaintiff demands a jury in the trial of these matters. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for the following relief: 

A. Grant a Judgment against the Defendant Knox County to pay all sums due Plaintiff for 

the Defendant’s violation of the ADEA and ADAAA; and, 

B. An appropriate award of back wages in an amount not to exceed $300,000.00, and an 

equal sum of $300,000.00 as liquidated damages; and, 

C. An award of punitive damages in an amount not to exceed $500,000.00; and, 

D. An award of prejudgment interest; and, 

E. An award of punitive damages in an amount not to exceed $500,000.00; and, 

F. An award of front pay in an amount not to exceed $300,000.00, and an equal sum of 

$300,000.00 as liquidated damages; and, 

G. An award of reasonable attorney’s fees; and, 

H. All costs of this action; and, 

I. A jury to try Plaintiffs claims. 

 

 Kathy Diane Lewis,  
 Plaintiff 

 

   /s/ Jeffrey C. Taylor  
 Jeffrey C. Taylor, Esq. (BPR #013436) 
 TAYLOR LAW FIRM 
 365 West Third North Street 
 Morristown, Tennessee 37814 
 (423) 586-6812 
 jeff@taylorlawfirmtn.com 
 
 Attorney for Kathy Diane Lewis 
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